

NATIONAL QUALITY FORUM

National Voluntary Consensus Standards for Prevention and Care of Venous Thromboembolism: Policy, Preferred Practices, and Initial Performance Measures

A CONSENSUS REPORT

NATIONAL QUALITY FORUM

Foreword

Penous thromboembolism (VTE) is the most common preventable cause of hospital death in the United States. Despite the fact that several clinical interventions are available for preventing and treating VTE, which encompasses deep vein thrombosis and pulmonary embolism, only about one-third of all patients at risk for the condition who are appropriate candidates for prophylactic treatment actually receive it.

Since the first set of projects it undertook, the National Quality Forum (NQF) has recognized and targeted VTE as a serious patient safety threat. Two practices identified in its 2003 report, *Safe Practices for Better Healthcare: A Consensus Report*, address VTE. And while those practices are important and recently have been updated, VTE prevention and care remain woefully inadequate and quality measurement remains underdeveloped. National consensus standards addressing risk assessment, prevention, diagnosis, and treatment of VTE have not existed previously, and there remains a dearth of performance measures for assessing adherence to nationally accepted, evidence-based guidelines for the prevention and care of VTE.

This report endorses a statement of organizational policy identifying 4 specific domains of VTE prevention and care, 17 key characteristics of preferred practices, and 2 measures of VTE prophylaxis for surgery patients. It establishes a framework for the development of a set of performance measures for VTE prevention and care. It also provides guidance for institutions that are seeking to take immediate action to address the devastating consequences of this silent and deadly disease while positioning themselves for compliance with the VTE performance measures that will follow in the second phase of this project.

We thank the members of the Steering Committee and the Technical Advisory Panel for their dedication to improving the prevention and care of VTE, and we thank NQF Members for their collective commitment to improving VTE prevention and care.

Janet M. Corrigan, PhD, MBA President and Chief Executive Officer

© 2006 by the National Quality Forum All rights reserved

ISBN 1-933875-05-4

Printed in the U.S.A.

No part of this may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system, or transmitted, in any form or by any means electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording, or otherwise, without prior written permission of the National Quality Forum. Requests for permission to reprint or make copies should be directed to:

Permissions National Quality Forum 601 Thirteenth Street, NW, Suite 500 North Washington, DC 20005 Fax 202.783.3434 www.qualityforum.org

NATIONAL QUALITY FORUM

National Voluntary Consensus Standards for Prevention and Care of Venous Thromboembolism: Policy, Preferred Practices, and Initial Performance Measures

Table of Contents

(continued)

Relationship Among Organizational Policies, Preferred Practices, and Performance Measures	14
Figure 1. Relationship Among Organization Policies, Preferred Practices, and Performance Measures	14
Relationship to the Future Prevention and Care of VTE Performance Measure Set	14
Acknowledgments	15
Appendix A – Specifications of the National Voluntary Consensus Standards for Venous Thromboembolism Prophylaxis in the Surgical Patient A	- 1
Appendix B — Commentary B	-1
Appendix C – Steering Committee, Technical Advisory Panel, and Project Staff C	:-1
Appendix D – Members and Board of Directors D)-1
Appendix E – Consensus Development Process: Summary E	-1

NATIONAL QUALITY FORUM

National Voluntary Consensus Standards for Prevention and Care of Venous Thromboembolism: Policy, Preferred Practices, and Initial Performance Measures

Executive Summary

Penous thromboembolism (VTE), which encompasses deep vein thrombosis (DVT) and pulmonary embolism (PE), is the most common preventable cause of hospital death in the United States; most hospitalized patients have one or more risk factors for VTE, and about two-thirds of VTE-related deaths are the result of hospital-acquired disease. Recent estimates show that more than 900,000 Americans suffer VTE each year, with about 400,000 of these being DVT and 500,000 manifesting as PE. In about 300,000 persons, PE proves fatal, making it the third most common cause of hospital-related death in the United States. Despite the fact that several clinical interventions, including the use of mechanical and pharmacologic therapies, are known to be effective in preventing and treating VTE, only one-third of all patients at risk for VTE who are appropriate candidates for prophylactic treatment actually receive such treatment.

Recognizing that VTE is a significant patient safety issue despite the availability of effective interventions, the National Quality Forum (NQF) endorsed Safe Practices 17 and 18 in its 2003 report, *Safe Practices for Better Healthcare: A Consensus Report*. The consensus standards in this VTE report, as an outgrowth, specifically, of Safe Practice 17, were endorsed to further advance VTE prevention and care and to develop measures for public reporting.

This report details the first phase of a VTE project in which NQF endorses 2 process measures for prophylaxis in surgical patients, a statement of organizational policy, and 17 key characteristics of preferred practices that healthcare organizations must address in their efforts to ensure quality VTE prevention and care. The statement of policy and key characteristics of preferred practices also provide a framework within which a set of performance measures to evaluate adherence to preferred practices in VTE-DVT/PE assessment, prophylaxis, diagnosis, and treatment can be identified or developed.

Relationship to the Future Prevention and Care of VTE Performance Measure Set

This set of consensus standards establishes a framework for the assessment, prevention, diagnosis, and treatment of VTE. The second phase of NQF's VTE project focuses on performance measure development and is under way in collaboration with the Joint Commission on Accreditation of Healthcare Organizations (JCAHO). During this phase, additional performance measures have been selected from among the candidate measures, and JCAHO, under contract to NQF, is developing and testing them. Throughout this process, areas in which additional research is needed to improve the quality of VTE prevention and care will be identified and advanced within the framework of the key characteristics of preferred practices.

National Voluntary Consensus Standards for Prevention and Care of Venous Thromboembolism¹

Statement of Policy

Every healthcare organization shall have a written policy appropriate for its scope that is evidence based and that drives continuous quality improvement related to venous thromboembolism (VTE) risk assessment, prophylaxis, diagnosis, and treatment.

Key Characteristics of Preferred Practices

The key characteristics include general characteristics and characteristics in each of the four domains.

General

- ensure that multidisciplinary teams develop institutions' protocols and/or "adopt" established evidence-based protocols;
- have in place a documented system for ongoing quality improvement (QI) that demonstrates acting on evidence-based guidelines/practices (rationale for departing from guidelines should be documented unless documentation itself is for some reason contraindicated);
- include provision for risk assessment/ stratification, prophylaxis, diagnosis, and treatment;
- include appropriate QI activity/ monitoring for all phases of care with periodic (as defined by institutional policy) assessment of compliance with policies and measures; and

¹See the full report for additional discussion, background, and reference material.

5. provide for a system of provider education that encompasses all aspects of VTE prevention and care, including primary and secondary prevention, risk assessment and stratification, prophylaxis, diagnosis, and treatment.

Risk Assessment/Stratification

- provide for risk assessments on all patients based on evidence-based institutional policy (institutions have the flexibility to determine how patient risks are assessed/stratified); and
- 2. require documentation in the patient's health record that risk assessment/stratification was completed.

Prophylaxis

- provide for type and intensity of prophylaxis based on and commensurate with assessment and documentation of risk/benefit and efficacy/safety for the patient; and
- be based on formal risk assessment and be consistent with nationally accepted, evidence-based measures/guidelines including NQF-endorsed[™] Safe Practice 28 (formerly 17).

Diagnosis

- include a requirement to establish a diagnosis of VTE using specific objective diagnostic testing in order to justify treatment continued beyond the initial empiric treatment; and
- include institution-specific algorithm(s) for establishing diagnosis and require the documentation of contraindications if the algorithm(s) is not followed.

Treatment and Monitoring

- 1. ensure that anticoagulation is administered safely and that the setting in which anticoagulation occurs is part of the safety consideration;
- 2. incorporate NQF-endorsed Safe Practice 29 (formerly 18);
- provide for the initiation of treatment based on empiric evidence with a high degree of suspicion and assessment of safety concerns that, for continued therapy, is confirmed with objective testing based on facility policy/guidelines (also see diagnosis, above);

- 4. provide for accurate verbal and written patient education that is appropriate to the setting and patient reading levels (that includes some assessment of understanding versus simple documentation – especially important for outpatients);
- 5. provide for guideline-directed therapy addressing:
 - a. initiation and monitoring of heparin and oral anticoagulation therapy, including timing of initial dose, dose and dose schedule, duration of heparin/oral anticoagulation overlap, and total duration of therapy;
 - b. appropriate indications for placement and retrieval of an inferior vena cava filter;
 - c. appropriate indications for thrombolytic therapy and venous embolectomy (includes pulmonary artery embolectomy);
 - d. prevention of post-thrombotic syndrome; and
 - e. monitoring for the development of and early intervention for chronic thromboembolic pulmonary hypertension; and
- 6. provide for guideline-directed therapy that addresses care setting transitions.

Performance Measures*

- Surgery patients with recommended venous thromboembolism (VTE) prophylaxis ordered.
- Surgery patients who received appropriate venous thromboembolism (VTE) prophylaxis within 24 hours prior to surgery to 24 hours after surgery.

*Detailed specifications required to implement these measures are provided in the full report.

NATIONAL QUALITY FORUM

National Voluntary Consensus Standards for Prevention and Care of Venous Thromboembolism: Policy, Preferred Practices, and Initial Performance Measures

Introduction

Penous thromboembolism (VTE), which encompasses deep vein thrombosis (DVT) and pulmonary embolism (PE), is the most common preventable cause of hospital death.^{1,2,3} Recent estimates show that more than 900,000 Americans suffer VTE each year, with about 400,000 of these having DVT and 500,000 manifesting as PE.⁴ In about 300,000 Americans, PE proves fatal; it is the third most common cause of hospital-related death in the United States.⁵ Survivors are at risk for recurrence and other serious long-term complications, including post-thrombotic syndrome and chronic thromboembolic pulmonary hypertension.⁶

²Tapson VF, Hyers TM, Waldo AL, et al., Antithrombotic therapy practices in US hospitals in an era of practice guidelines, *Arch Intern Med*, 2005;165:1458-1464.

³ Clagett GP, Anderson FA, Heit JA, et al., Prevention of venous thromboembolism, *Chest*, 1995;108:312-334.

⁴ Heit JA, Cohen AT, Anderson FA Jr, et al., Estimated annual number of incident and recurrent, non-fatal and fatal venous thromboembolism (VTE) events in the US, *Blood (ASH Annual Meeting Abstracts)*, 2005;106:Abstract 910.
⁵ Ibid.

⁶Davidson BL, Sullivan SD, Kahn SR, et al., The economics of venous thromboembolism prophylaxis: a primer for clinicians, *Chest*, 2003;124:393-396.

¹Heit JA, O'Fallon WM, Petterson TM, et al., Relative impact of risk factors for deep vein thrombosis and pulmonary embolism, *Arch Intern Med*, 2002;162:1245-1248.

About two-thirds of all VTE events are related to hospitalization.⁷ Although VTE is often clinically silent, with as many as 25 percent of cases presenting as sudden death from PE, needless mortality and morbidity occur due to underdiagnosis and underutilization of prophylaxis.⁸ Despite the fact that several clinical interventions, including the use of mechanical and pharmacologic therapies, are known to be effective in preventing and treating VTE, only one-third of all patients at risk for VTE who are appropriate candidates for prophylactic treatment actually receive such treatment.⁹

Prophylaxis is only one component involved in preventing DVT; however, 30 to 50 percent of patients diagnosed and hospitalized with DVT had received prophylaxis. While the improvement to 50 percent occurred with or without continuing medical education (CME), the greatest percentage of improvement occurred with CME, suggesting that increasing provider education can save many lives.¹⁰

Improvements in the quality of VTE prevention and care – in hospitals in particular – have the potential to benefit many, given the number and variety of clinical conditions or circumstances that place individuals at risk for VTE. Most hospitalized patients have one or more risk factors for VTE.¹¹ Risk factors include advancing age, recent major surgery, trauma (especially fractures of the pelvis, hip, or leg), cancer, prolonged immobilization from any cause, obesity, history of thromboembolism, hypertension, pregnancy, congestive heart failure, acute myocardial infarction, stroke and other debilitating neurological conditions, mechanical ventilation, smoking, use of oral contraceptives or estrogen hormone

¹⁰ Anderson FA, Wheeler HB, Goldberg RJ, et al., Changing clinical practice: prospective study of the impact of continuing medical education and quality assurance programs on use of prophylaxis for venous thromboembolism, *Arch Intern Med*, 1994;154(6):669-677.

¹¹Geerts WH, Pineo GF, Heit JA, et al., Prevention of venous thromboembolism; the Seventh ACCP Conference on Antithrombotic and Thrombolytic Therapy, *Chest*, 2004;126(3)Suppl:338S-379S.

⁷ Heit JA, Cohen AT, Anderson FA Jr, et al., Estimated annual number of incident and recurrent, non-fatal and fatal venous thromboembolism (VTE) events in the US. ⁸ Heit JA, O'Fallon WM, Petterson TM, Relative impact of risk factors for deep vein thrombosis and pulmonary embolism.

⁹Clagett GP, Anderson FA, Heit JA, et al., Prevention of venous thromboembolism.

therapy, and various inherited conditions.^{12,13,14} Moreover, about two-thirds of VTE-related deaths are the result of hospital-acquired disease.¹⁵

Although preventing VTE is a significant patient safety issue, there is little public awareness of the life-threatening conditions of its components, DVT and PE. With respect to DVT, for example, a 2002 survey conducted on behalf of the American Public Health Association suggests that 75 percent of Americans have little or no awareness of DVT, and fewer than 50 percent of respondents could identify any risk factors associated with its development.¹⁶ Recognizing the lack of public awareness, several organizations have mobilized to increase consumer knowledge of the risks, signs, and symptoms of VTE through increased media visibility. In addition to increasing public awareness, efforts to reduce the occurrence of VTE also include improved provider education. Several specialty provider organizations have developed,^{17,18} or are developing, guidelines to promote appropriate screening and prophylaxis for at-risk patients. Despite these efforts, however, wide variation in the prevention and care of VTE persists.

National Voluntary Consensus Standards for Prevention and Care of VTE

o improve VTE prophylaxis and treatment and save patient lives, this National Quality Forum (NQF) report provides a set of consensus standards that includes a statement of policy that sets forth the domains of prevention and care; key characteristics of preferred practices; and an initial set of two surgical prophylaxis performance measures.

Relationship to Other NQF-Endorsed[™] Consensus Standards

This report builds on previously endorsed NQF consensus standards for the prevention and care of VTE. In its 2003 report, *Safe Practices for Better Healthcare: A Consensus Report*,¹⁹ NQF endorsed 30 safe practices to improve patient safety and reduce the occurrence of preventable adverse healthcare events. In recognition of the glaring underuse of prophylaxis for VTE, one of the 30 NQF-endorsed safe practices specified that upon admission to the hospital and regularly thereafter, each

¹⁸ Agus GB, Allegra C, Arpaia G, et al., Guidelines for the prevention and treatment of thromboembolic disease, Int Angiol, 2001;20(2)Suppl. Available at www.flebologia.unisi.it/lineeguida/guidelines-TVP.htm. Last accessed January 2006.

¹²Goldhaber SZ, Tapson VF, A prospective registry of 5,451 patients with ultrasound-confirmed deep vein thrombosis, *Am J Cardiol*, 2004;93:259-262.

¹³ National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute, What Makes Deep Vein Thrombosis More Likely? Available at

www.nhlbi.nih.gov/health/dci/Diseases/Dvt/DVT_WhoIsAtRisk.html. Last accessed January 2006.

¹⁴Goldhaber SZ, Morrison RB, Pulmonary embolism and deep vein thrombosis, *Circulation*, 2002;106:1436.

¹⁵ Heit JA, Cohen AT, Anderson FA Jr., et al., Estimated annual number of incident and recurrent, non-fatal and fatal venous thromboembolism (VTE) events in the US.

¹⁶ American Public Health Association, *Deep-Vein Thrombosis: Advancing Awareness to Protect Patient Lives*, White Paper, Public Health Leadership Conference on Deep-Vein Thrombosis, Washington, DC; February 26, 2003.

¹⁷ Hirsh J, Guyatt G, Alberts GW, et al., Evidence-based guidelines: the Seventh ACCP Conference on Antithrombotic and Thrombolytic Therapy, Chest, 2004;126(3)Suppl;172S-173S.

¹⁹ National Quality Forum (NQF), Safe Practices for Better Healthcare: A Consensus Report, Washington, DC: NQF; 2003.

patient should be evaluated for the risk of developing VTE-DVT and that clinically appropriate methods to prevent VTE-DVT should be utilized. Safe Practice 17 further specified that risk assessment and prevention planning should be documented in patient records and that explicit organizational policies and procedures should be in place for the prevention of VTE-DVT. Safe Practice 18 specified that organizational policies and procedures should provide for antithrombotic services (see box A, below, for Safe Practices 17 and 18). It was beyond the scope of that report, however, to identify a set of model organizational policies, preferred practices, and performance measures for the prevention and care of VTE.

Box A – NQF-Endorsed Safe Practices 17 and 18: 2003

Safe Practice 17

Evaluate each patient upon admission and regularly thereafter for the risk of developing DVT-VTE. Utilize clinically appropriate methods to prevent DVT-VTE.

Additional Specifications

- Document the VTE risk assessment and prevention plan in the patient's record.
- Explicit organizational policies and procedures should be in place for the prevention of VTE.

Applicable Clinical Care Settings

Acute care hospitals, long-term care facilities, and nursing homes.

Example Implementation Approaches

Depending on the level of risk, different specific methods may be more appropriate or more effective than other methods. For example, in postoperative patients, mechanical methods such as graduate compression stockings or intermittent calf compression may be preferred to anticoagulants.

Safe Practice 18

Utilize dedicated antithrombotic (anticoagulation) services that facilitate coordinated care management.

Additional Specifications

Explicit organizational policies and procedures should be in place regarding antithrombotic services.

Applicable Clinical Care Settings

All care settings.

Example Implementation Approaches

- Ensure that staff are dedicated and experienced in monitoring anticoagulant therapy.
- Implement reliable patient scheduling and tracking.
- Employ accessible, accurate, and frequent Prothrombin Time, International Normalized Ratio (PT/INR) testing.
- Utilize patient-specific decision support and interaction.
- Implement ongoing patient education.

Although Safe Practices 17 and 18 were important first steps, additional work to improve the quality of VTE prevention and care clearly was needed. Until now, there have been no nationally recognized model organizational policies for the prevention of VTE. National consensus standards that identified preferred practices in VTE risk assessment, prevention, diagnosis, and treatment – applicable to a variety of healthcare settings – did not exist. Likewise, there had been no widely agreed-upon performance measures to assess adherence to accepted guidelines for the prevention and care of VTE. Given the mortality and morbidity attributed to VTE, the need for such standards is compelling.

Recognizing that quality improvement efforts take place within a broad organizational context, NQF views organizational policies and practices as unique vehicles for advancing healthcare quality. The domains of VTE prevention and care and the key characteristics of preferred practices have the potential to enable improvement by providing guidance in areas that have a dearth of performance measures, while the work to identify and develop performance measures is being done. Additionally, they may drive future research and measure development, while offering healthcare organizations a framework for immediate action.

Still, although policies and practices offer a framework for early improvements in the quality and care of VTE, performance measures are critical. Given the relatively immature state of performance measurement for all aspects of VTE prevention and care and the enormous need for performance measures in this area, NQF formed a unique collaboration with the Joint Commission on Accreditation of Healthcare Organizations (JCAHO) to draw upon its expertise in measure specification, development, and testing. Performance measures identified through this initiative will be available for consideration in 2007 by NQF under the Consensus Development Process (CDP).

This report represents the first phase of work to endorse – pursuant to the NQF CDP (appendix E) – a set of voluntary consensus standards for VTE prevention and care. It sets forth 4 domains of prevention and care (within a statement

of policy), 17 key characteristics of preferred practices, and 2 surgical prophylaxis performance measures. The key characteristics of preferred practices address elements of each domain across the continuum of VTE prevention and care – including risk assessment/stratification, prophylaxis, diagnosis, and treatment – and they set forth expectations for ongoing monitoring. The domains and their attendant key practice characteristics are applicable across care settings and should permit each healthcare organization to adopt them in a manner consistent with the setting in which it delivers care and with the scope of services provided.

Identifying the Initial Set

NQF convened a Steering Committee (appendix C) to establish the initial approach to developing consensus standards for the prevention and care of VTE. A framework that demonstrates the relationship among policies, practices, and performance measures was identified, as were the purpose of the initial set of policy and practice statements and the scope and priorities of the set of voluntary consensus standards.

A Framework for VTE Prevention and Care

The objectives of the VTE project framework are to ensure that:

- the endorsed set of model organizational policies, preferred practices, and performance measures covers the full spectrum of prevention and care services that impact quality;
- the needs of all stakeholders are addressed and the knowledge that is provided is useable by all stakeholders;
- the endorsed set of model organizational policies, preferred practices, and performance measures builds upon the criteria set forth in *Safe Practices for Better Healthcare: A Consensus Report* and is generalizable (i.e., it may be applied in multiple clinical care settings and/or for multiple types of patients);
- the endorsed set of organizational policies, preferred practices, and performance measures reflects strong evidence that such practices can improve quality of care and reduce the incidence and/or complications of VTE-DVT/PE;

- the processes and criteria for the recommendation of policies, practices, and measures are standardized and precisely defined;
- the reporting and implementation of the consensus standards are performed in a way that will maximize impact; and
- the policies, practices, and measures will leverage opportunities for significant improvement in the prevention and care of VTE-DVT/PE by identifying critical points in the clinical course and progression of this condition.

Purpose

As noted, this report encompasses a framework that delineates the domains of VTE prevention and care, characteristics of preferred practices, and performance measures. Specifically:

- The statement of policy, with its four domains of prevention and care, provides a framework within which the characteristics of preferred practices are explicated and a comprehensive set of performance measures related to evidence-based guidelines is identified or developed and tested to evaluate adherence to practices.
- The purpose of the 17 key characteristics of preferred practices for the prevention and care of VTE is to inform internal quality improvement efforts and to provide guidance to hospitals and other healthcare providers as they strive to provide the highest quality of care to patients at risk of, and those being treated for, VTE.
- The purpose of the two performance measures for VTE surgical prophylaxis is public accountability.

Scope

The voluntary consensus standards for the prevention and care of VTE–DVT/PE encompass those that:

- are fully open source;
- include the entire continuum of care, from prevention through diagnosis, treatment, secondary prevention, and management of high-risk populations;
- are applicable across healthcare organizations that provide care to persons at risk for VTE;
- can be used for quality improvement;
- reflect those aspects of VTE prevention and care over which healthcare organizations and providers have control, including transitions of care between healthcare providers along the continuum of care;
- address the six NQF-endorsed aims for healthcare (i.e., safe, beneficial, patient centered, timely, efficient, and equitable);
- address the need for education and awareness programs; and
- with respect to performance measures, are fully developed.

Priority Areas for VTE Prevention and Care Policy, Practices, and Performance Measures

In identifying the policy, practice statements, and performance measures for the prevention and care of VTE, priority was given to those that:

- are likely to lead to significant improvement in the prevention and care of VTE;
- build upon NQF-endorsed voluntary consensus standards;

- are applicable to multiple levels of the healthcare system;
- address priorities for national healthcare quality;
- are suitable for accountability and efficiency;
- relate to prevention, early identification, and treatment; and
- address disparities in care.

Criteria for the Selection of Consensus Standards

Two NQF reports, *A Comprehensive Framework for Hospital Care Performance Evaluation: A Consensus Report*²⁰ and *Safe Practices for Better Healthcare: A Consensus Report,* provided a framework for the evaluation of the candidate practices and measures. The criteria detailed in these reports were used to evaluate each candidate practice (box B) and each performance measure (box C).

Box B – Criteria for Inclusion in the Set – Practices

In considering new candidate practices, as well as establishing boundaries and priorities for gaps that may exist, the following four domains, derived from earlier NQF work, were used: importance, scientific acceptability, usability, and feasibility. Furthermore, to be included in the set, the key characteristics of practices were evaluated against the specific criteria from Safe Practices for Better Healthcare: A Consensus Report, which are as follows:

Specificity. The practice must be a clearly and precisely defined process or manner of providing a healthcare service. All candidate safe practices were screened according to this threshold criterion. Candidate safe practices that met the threshold criterion of specificity were then rated against four additional criteria relating to the likelihood of the practice improving patient safety.

Benefit. If the practice were more widely utilized, it would save lives endangered by healthcare delivery, reduce disability or other morbidity, or reduce the likelihood of a serious reportable event (e.g., an effective practice already in near universal use would lead to little new benefit to patients by being designated a safe practice).

Evidence of Effectiveness. There must be clear evidence that the practice would be effective in reducing patient safety events. Such evidence may take various forms, including the following:

- research studies showing a direct connection between improved clinical outcomes (e.g., reduced mortality or morbidity) and the practice;
- experiential data (including broad expert agreement, widespread opinion, or professional consensus) showing the practice is "obviously beneficial" or self-evident (i.e., the practice absolutely constrains a potential problem or forces an improvement to occur, reduces reliance on memory, standardizes equipment or process steps, or promotes teamwork); or
- research findings or experiential data from non-healthcare industries that should be substantially transferable to healthcare (e.g., repeat-back of verbal orders or standardizing abbreviations).

Generalizability. The safe practice must be able to be utilized in multiple applicable clinical care settings (e.g., a variety of inpatient and/or outpatient settings) and/or for multiple types of patients.

Readiness. The necessary technology and appropriately skilled staff must be available to most healthcare organizations.

Box C – Criteria for Inclusion in the Set – Performance Measures

Measures are evaluated for suitability based on four standardized criteria endorsed by NQF in 2003²¹—important, scientifically acceptable, useable, and feasible.

Important. This set addresses the extent to which a measure reflects a variation in quality or low levels of overall performance and the extent to which it captures key aspects of the flow of care.

- The measure addresses one or more key leverage points for improving quality.
- Considerable variation in the quality of care exists.
- Performance in the area (e.g., setting, procedure, condition) is suboptimal, suggesting that barriers to improvement or best practice may exist.

Scientifically acceptable. A measure is scientifically sound if it produces consistent and credible results when implemented.

- The measure is well defined and precisely specified. Measures must be specified sufficiently to be distinguishable from other measures, and they must be implemented consistently across institutions. Measure specifications should provide detail about cohort definition, as well as the denominator and numerator for rate-based measures and categories for range-based measures.
- The measure is reliable, producing the same results a high proportion of the time when assessed in the same population.
- The measure is valid, accurately representing the concept being evaluated.
- The measure is precise, adequately discriminating between real differences in provider performance.
- The measure is adaptable to patient preferences and a variety of contexts of settings. Adaptability depends on the extent to which the measure and its specifications account for the variety of patient choices, including refusal of treatment and clinical exceptions.
- An adequate and specified risk-adjustment strategy exists, where applicable.
- Consistent evidence is available linking the process measures to patient outcomes.

Useable. Usability reflects the extent to which intended audiences (e.g., consumers, purchasers) can understand the results of the measure and are likely to find them useful for decisionmaking.

- The measure can be used by the stakeholder to make decisions.
- The differences in performance levels are statistically meaningful.
- The differences in performance are practically and clinically meaningful.
- Risk stratification, risk adjustment, and other forms of recommended analyses can be applied appropriately.
- Effective presentation and dissemination strategies exist (e.g., transparency, ability to draw conclusions, information available when needed to make decisions).
- Information produced by the measure can/will be used by at least one healthcare stakeholder audience (e.g., public/consumers, purchasers, clinicians and providers, policymakers, accreditors/regulators) to make a decision or take an action.
- Information about specific conditions for which the measure is appropriate has been given.
- Methods for aggregating the measure with other, related measures (e.g., to create a composite measure) are defined, if those related measures are determined to be more understandable and more useful in decisionmaking. Risks of such aggregation, including misrepresentation, have been evaluated.

Box C – Criteria for Inclusion in the Set – Performance Measures (continued)

Feasible. Feasibility is generally based on the way in which data can be obtained within the normal flow of clinical care and the extent to which an implementation plan can be achieved.

- The point of data collection is tied to care delivery, when feasible.
- The timing and frequency of measure collection are specified.
- The benefit of measurement is evaluated against the financial and administrative burden of implementation and maintenance of the measure set.
- An auditing strategy is designed and can be implemented.
- Confidentiality concerns are addressed.

The NQF-Endorsed National Voluntary Consensus Standards for Prevention and Care of VTE

he NQF-endorsed set is composed of a broad statement of policy identifying 4 specific domains of VTE prevention and care, 17 key characteristics of preferred practices that clarify an expectation of the action in each domain, and 2 measures of VTE prophylaxis (appendix A) intended for institutional public accountability. These consensus standards are intended for hospital use and – as applicable to the setting of care and the scope of services – all other healthcare facilities.

The domains and key characteristics of practices also provide a framework for the development of a comprehensive set of performance measures that will be identified in the next phase of the project and that will supplement the two endorsed measures in this phase. NQF endorsement of this set:

- enables the early promulgation of policy that includes the adoption of the domains and practices into which performance measures can be integrated as they are selected, developed, and endorsed;
- facilitates assessment, prophylaxis, diagnosis, and treatment services as well as patient education and organizational monitoring of VTE prevention and care services; and
- enables organizational accountability for the appropriate VTE prophylaxis of surgical patients.

Statement of Policy and Domains of Care

The following statement of policy identifies the four domains of VTE prevention and care and sets expectations about the approach to be taken by all organizations providing care to those at risk of, or being treated for, VTE-DVT/PE. Every healthcare organization shall have a written policy appropriate for its scope that is evidence based and that drives continuous quality improvement related to venous thromboembolism (VTE) risk assessment, prophylaxis, diagnosis, and treatment.

Key Characteristics of Preferred Practices

While the overarching statement of policy (above) calls for specific organizational action to address the four domains of VTE prevention and care (risk assessment, prophylaxis, diagnosis, and treatment), the key characteristics of preferred practices expand the policy statement by setting out general characteristics and characteristics to be addressed in each of the four domains of VTE prevention and care, as well as a monitoring function. The characteristics are arrayed as follows:

- General. The five key characteristics in this area focus on the use of multidisciplinary teams to establish approaches to all aspects of VTE prevention and care and provider education across all domains.
- Risk Assessment/Stratification. The two key characteristics of practice in this domain require that risk assessment and documentation thereof be included in an institutional policy and be carried out.
- Prophylaxis. The two key characteristics of practice in this domain address the requirement for risk assessment and set out the expectation that VTE prophylaxis will be based on evidence-based guidelines and include Safe Practice 28 (formerly 17). As all domains will be, this domain is amplified by the two performance measures specified in this report.
- Diagnosis. The two key characteristics of practice in this domain set expectations regarding methods for establishing diagnosis, attendant documentation, and provider education.
- Treatment (and Monitoring). The six key characteristics of preferred practices in this domain speak to the initiation of therapy, the confirmation of VTE using institutionalapproved testing protocols, the safe administration of guideline-directed therapy, patient education, the use of Safe Practice 29 (formerly 18), and an expectation for monitoring.

Thus, with appropriate consideration of the setting of care and scope of services, organizational practices related to the prevention and care of VTE should be documented in policy and should include the following key characteristics:

General

- ensure that multidisciplinary teams develop institutions' protocols and/or "adopt" established, evidence-based protocols;
- have in place a documented system for ongoing quality improvement (QI) that demonstrates acting on evidencebased guidelines/practices (rationale for departing from guidelines should be documented unless documentation itself is for some reason contraindicated);
- include provision for risk assessment/stratification, prophylaxis, diagnosis, and treatment;
- include appropriate QI activity/monitoring for all phases of care with periodic (as defined by institutional policy) assessment of compliance with policies and measures; and
- 5. provide for a system of provider education that encompasses all aspects of VTE prevention and care, including primary and secondary prevention, risk assessment and stratification, prophylaxis, diagnosis, treatment, and monitoring.

Risk-Assessment/Stratification

- provide for risk assessments on all patients based on evidence-based institutional policy (institutions have the flexibility to determine how patient risks are assessed/ stratified); and
- 2. require documentation in the patient's health record that risk assessment/stratification was completed.

Prophylaxis

- provide for the type and intensity of prophylaxis based on and commensurate with assessment and documentation of risk/benefit and efficacy/safety for the patient; and
- 2. be based on formal risk assessment and be consistent with nationally accepted, evidence-based measures/guidelines including NQF-endorsed Safe Practice 28.

Diagnosis

- include a requirement to establish a diagnosis of VTE using specific objective diagnostic testing in order to justify treatment continued beyond the initial empiric treatment; and
- 2. include institution-specific algorithm(s) for establishing diagnosis and require the documentation of contraindications if the algorithm(s) is not followed.

Treatment and Monitoring

- 1. ensure that anticoagulation is administered safely and that the setting in which anticoagulation occurs is part of the safety consideration;
- 2. incorporate NQF-endorsed Safe Practice 29;
- provide for the initiation of treatment based on empiric evidence with a high degree of suspicion and assessment of safety concerns that, for continued therapy, is confirmed with objective testing based on facility policy/ guidelines (also see diagnosis, above);
- provide for accurate verbal and written patient education that is appropriate to the setting and patient reading levels (that includes some assessment of understanding versus simple documentation – which is especially important for outpatients);
- 5. provide for guideline-directed therapy addressing:
 - a. initiation and monitoring of heparin and oral anticoagulation therapy, including timing of initial dose, dose and dose schedule, duration of heparin/oral anticoagulation overlap, and total duration of therapy;

- b. appropriate indications for placement and retrieval of an inferior vena cava filter;
- c. appropriate indications for thrombolytic therapy and venous embolectomy (includes pulmonary artery embolectomy);
- d. prevention of post-thrombotic syndrome; and
- e. monitoring for the development of and early intervention for chronic thromboembolic pulmonary hypertension; and
- 6. provide for guideline-directed therapy that addresses care setting transitions.

Performance Measures

Two process measures for prophylaxis in the surgical patient were endorsed. They are as follows:

- Surgery patients with recommended venous thromboembolism (VTE) prophylaxis ordered.
- Surgery patients who received appropriate venous thromboembolism (VTE) prophylaxis within 24 hours prior to surgery to 24 hours after surgery.

The developer of the measures is the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services. Because these are measures developed by a federal government entity, they are in the public domain.

The specifications for each of the measures are included in appendix A.

Relationship Among Organizational Policies, Preferred Practices, and Performance Measures

Construct was developed and implemented in this project to demonstrate the relationship among organizational policies, preferred practices, and performance measures (figure 1).

- Organizational policies are statements of required institutional practices or organizational regulations that are included in a standard operating guide. They establish preferred practices as expected institutional behaviors and signal an organizational commitment to ensure that care processes are consistent with preferred practices. In instituting such policies, leadership demonstrates a voluntary commitment to quality and accountability.
- Preferred practices encompass a broad range of clinical decisionmaking tools that guide a healthcare professional in the prevention, diagnosis, or management of DVT. They are evidence based or represent expert consensus on quality healthcare practices. Preferred practices guide daily practice to ensure consistent, quality care. Some examples of preferred practices include the use of risk assessment instruments, clinical protocols, and patient care guidelines.
- Performance measures report the degree to which care processes conform to established care standards, including clinical guidelines.

Figure 1 — Relationship Among Organizational Policies, Preferred Practices, and Performance Measures



The relationship among the three types of proposed consensus standards should be dynamic — that is, data from performance measures should be used to inform modifications to policies and/or practices. Similarly, new evidence related to practices may well emerge and demand that the specifications for measure(s) be modified.

Relationship to the Future Prevention and Care of VTE Performance Measure Set

During the course of assessing the availability of model policies, preferred practices, and performance measures for the prevention and care of VTE, it became clear that much work remains to be done to advance quality in this area. While many of the candidate practices addressed important aspects of VTE prevention and care, none systematically addressed each domain of care. However, taken as a whole, the preferred practices informed efforts to identify the set of key characteristics of preferred practices included in this report.

Similarly, while some performance measures related to VTE prevention and care exist, a comprehensive set of performance measures that evaluates quality across each domain of care is currently lacking. However, the second phase of the NQF VTE project is under way, and additional performance measures will be selected from among the candidate measures that JCAHO is developing and testing. Throughout this process, areas in which additional research is needed to improve the quality of VTE prevention and care will be identified and advanced within the framework of the key characteristics of preferred practices.

Acknowledgments

This work was supported by a grant from sanofi-aventis.

NATIONAL QUALITY FORUM

Appendix A

Specifications of the National Voluntary Consensus Standards for Venous Thromboembolism Prophylaxis in the Surgical Patient

The following table summarizes the specifications for each of the National Quality Forum (NQF)-endorsed[™] venous thromboembolism performance measures. All information presented has been derived directly from measure sources/developers without modification or alteration (except when the measure developer agreed to such modification during the NQF Consensus Development Process) and is current as of October 16, 2006.

All NQF-endorsed voluntary consensus standards are open source, meaning they are fully accessible and disclosed. References to related risk-adjustment methodologies and definitions are provided to assure openness and transparency.

sure Name IP Ov	vner	Numerator	Denominator	Inclusions/Exclusions	Risk Adjustment
gery Center ients with Medica ommended Medica nous (CMS) E) prophylaxis ered ¹	s for are and aid Services	Surgery patients with recommended VTE prophylaxis ordered during the admission	All selected surgery patients	 Denominator indusions: ICD-9-CM Principal Procedure Code of selected surgeries (refer to Specifications Manual, National Healthcare Quality Measures, appendix A, table 5.10 for ICD-9-CM Codes) AND ICD-9-CM Principal Procedure Code of selected surgeries (refer to Specifications Manual, AND) ICD-9-CM Principal Procedure Code of selected surgeries (refer to Specifications Manual, National Healthcare Quality Measures, appendix A, table 5.17-5.24 for ICD-9-CM Codes) Denominator exclusions: Patients who are less than 18 years of age Patients who set total surgery time is less than or equal to 30 minutes Patients who stayed less than or equal to 24 hours postoperatively Burn patients (refer to Specifications Manual, National Healthcare Quality Measures, appendix A, table 5.14 colores) Patients who stayed less than or equal to 24 hours postoperatively Burn patients (refer to Specifications Manual, National Healthcare Quality Measures, appendix A, table 5.14 colores) Patients who see total surgery time is less than or equal to 30 minutes Patients who see total surgery time is less than or equal to 24 hours postoperatively Burn patients (refer to Specifications Manual, National Healthcare Quality Measures, appendix A, table 5.14 for ICD-9-CM Codes) Patients who are on warfarin prior to admission Patients whose ICD-9-CM Principal Procedure occurred prior to the date of admission 	None
gery GMS ients who eived ropriate out omboembolism hin 24 hours 24 hours after gery ²		Surgery patients who received appropriate VTE prophylaxis within 24 hours prior to <i>Surgical Incision Time</i> to 24 hours after <i>Surgery</i> <i>End Time</i>	All selected surgery patients	 Denominator indusions: ICD-9-CM Principal Procedure Code of selected surgeries (refer to Specifications Manual, National Healthcare Quality Measures, appendix A, table 5.10 for ICD-9-CM Codes) AND ICD-9-CM Principal Procedure Code of selected surgeries (refer to Specifications Manual, AND ICD-9-CM Principal Procedure Code of selected surgeries (refer to Specifications Manual, National Healthcare Quality Measures, appendix A, table 5.17-5.24 for ICD-9-CM Codes) Denominator exclusions: Patients who are less than 18 years of age Patients who set eless than or equal to 24 hours postoperatively Burn patients (refer to Specifications Manual, National Healthcare Quality Measures, appendix A, table 5.14 co Specifications Manual, National Healthcare, Patients who stayed less than or equal to 24 hours postoperatively Burn patients (refer to Specifications Manual, National Healthcare Quality Measures, appendix A, table 5.14 for ICD-9-CM Codes) Patients who see total surgery time is less than or equal to 30 minutes Patients who are on warfarin prior to admission Patients whose ICD-9-CM Principal Procedure occurred prior to the date of admission 	None
complete measure infor ww.qualitynet.org/ dcs able from the "Appendi	rmation inclu s/ContentSer ices" section ;	ding description, rationa ver?cid=1157485287169& at this web location.	le, numerator and denom pagename=QnetPublic%	inator detail, prophylaxis recommendations by surgery type and level of risk, and algorit IFPage%2FQnetTier3&c=Page, and from "Section 2.4," select "SCIP-VTE-1." ICD-9-CM C	ums, odes are also

²For complete measure information including description, rationale, numerator and denominator detail, prophylaxis recommendations by surgery type and level of risk, and algorithms, see www.qualitynet.org/dcs/ContentServer?cid=1157485287169&pagename=QnetPublic%2FPage%2FQnetTier3&c=Page, and from "Section 2.4," select "SCIP-VTE-2." ICD-9-CM Codes are also available from the "Appendices" section at this web location.

A-2

NATIONAL QUALITY FORUM

Appendix B Commentary

Introduction

n January 2005, the National Quality Forum (NQF) formally initiated a project to achieve consensus on an initial set of voluntary consensus standards comprising model organizational policies, preferred practices, and performance measures for the prevention and care of venous thromboembolism (VTE), which includes deep vein thrombosis (DVT) and pulmonary embolism (PE). As with other NQF consensus projects, a Steering Committee (appendix C) representing key healthcare constituencies-including consumers, providers, purchasers, and research and quality improvement organizations-was convened. In December 2005, the Steering Committee recommended a statement of policy that identified 4 domains of VTE prevention and care, a set of 17 key characteristics of preferred practices around the 4 domains, and 2 performance measures for endorsement as voluntary consensus standards in accordance with NQF's Consensus Development Process (appendix E). A Technical Advisory Panel (TAP) (appendix C) assisted the Steering Committee and NQF staff with the evaluation of the policy, practices, and measures; advised the Steering Committee on the technical aspects of all candidate items; advised and assisted the Joint Commission on Accreditation of Healthcare Organizations (JCAHO)¹ in the development and testing of performance measures; and made recommendations to the Steering Committee. This appendix summarizes the deliberations of the Steering Committee and the TAP during the first phase of this project.

¹The Joint Commission on Accreditation of Healthcare Organizations (JCAHO) is a subcontractor to the National Quality Forum for the development and testing of performance measures for this project.

This set of consensus standards is intended to:

- enable the early promulgation of policy that includes the adoption of the domains and practices into which performance measures can be integrated as they are selected, developed, and endorsed;
- facilitate assessment, prophylaxis, diagnosis, and treatment services, as well as patient education and organizational monitoring of VTE prevention and care services; and
- enable organizational accountability in the area of prophylaxis of surgical patients.

Relationship to Other NQF Voluntary Consensus Standards

This project grew from discussions that recognized that the 2003 NQFendorsed[™] Safe Practices 17 and 18, while representing a start to raising awareness regarding the need to evaluate patients for VTE-DVT/PE and to providing prophylaxis in a structured and rigorous way, did not fill the gap in guidance. In mid-2004, guidelines for conducting individual patient risk assessments, national consensus guidelines for VTE-DVT/PE prevention and care, and widely agreed-upon performance measures to assess adherence to preferred practices did not exist.

Recognizing that patients present to hospitals with VTE-DVT/PE and that a significant percentage of patients develop these problems during their hospital stay, Safe Practice 17 set the expectation that all patients admitted to acute care hospitals, long-term care facilities, and nursing homes would be evaluated upon admission and regularly throughout their hospitalization. Safe Practice 18 moved the agenda further by specifying that services should be in place to assure that care management is provided in a coordinated fashion.

This project involves a multifaceted, multiphased approach to improving prevention and care for patients at risk for or diagnosed with VTE-DVT/PE by establishing a standardized approach to prevention and care, setting forth a statement of policy that identifies four domains of prevention and care, and achieving evidence-based consensus on practices and performance measures in order to make guidance and tools on prevention and care available that go well beyond those provided by the 2003 NQF-endorsed Safe Practices 17 and 18.

Approach to Identification, Screening, and Evaluation

The Steering Committee's approach to policy, practice, and measure screening and evaluation followed a six-step process:

- 1. Establish a conceptual framework that clarifies the aims and approach to the set.
- 2. Agree on a purpose statement for the set.
- 3. Identify the scope of the policies, practices, and measures set in order to identify domains to be addressed.
- 4. Identify priority areas in order to assure a parsimonious and feasible set of policies, practices, and measures in the final set.

- 5. Use the criteria for evaluating policies and practices set forth in *Safe Practices for Better Healthcare: A Consensus Report*² and for evaluating measures as detailed in *A Comprehensive Framework for Hospital Performance Evaluation: A Consensus Report.*³
- 6. Make recommendations to NQF Members on these matters and offer any accompanying recommendations.

Framework for VTE Prevention and Care

To set a framework in which policies, preferred practices, and performance measures could be considered, the Steering Committee drew upon previous NQFendorsed frameworks.^{4,5} The Steering Committee's recommended framework, like those of other NQF projects, also revolves around the six NQF-endorsed aims for healthcare – that it be safe, beneficial, patient centered, timely, equitable, and efficient.

Additionally, the Steering Committee affirmed that the framework should ensure that:

- the endorsed set of measures, preferred practices, and model organizational policies is comprehensive and covers the full spectrum of prevention and care services that impact quality;
- the needs of all stakeholders are addressed and the knowledge provided is useable by all stakeholders;

- the endorsed set of preferred practices and model organizational policies builds upon the criteria set forth in the *Safe Practices* report and is generalizable (i.e., they may be applied in multiple care settings, and/or with multiple types of patients);
- the endorsed set of organizational policies, practices, and measures reflects strong evidence of effectiveness in preventing and/or reducing the incidence and/or complications of DVT;
- the processes and criteria for the recommendation of policies, practices, and measures are standardized and precisely defined;
- the reporting and implementation of the consensus standards are performed in a way that will maximize their impact; and
- the measures, practices, and policies leverage opportunities for significant improvement in the prevention and care of DVT by identifying critical points in the clinical course and progression of this condition.

Finally, the construct describing the relationship among policy, practices, and performance measures (figure 1, in the report) was used as a reference during the development of the statement of policy and the characteristics of preferred practices. It also will be used by the TAP and the Steering Committee as they look toward recommending a comprehensive measure

²National Quality Forum (NQF), Safe Practices for Better Healthcare: A Consensus Report, Washington, DC: NQF; 2003.

³NQF, A Comprehensive Framework for Hospital Care Performance Evaluation: A Consensus Report, Washington, DC: NQF; 2003. ⁴Ibid.

⁵NQF, A National Framework for Healthcare Quality Measurement and Reporting: A Consensus Report, Washington, DC: NQF; 2002.

set that will complete the tools that, once implemented, should improve the prevention and care of VTE in an evolutionary fashion.

Purpose and Scope

Steering Committee members spent considerable time discussing the purpose and scope of the project. It was their consensus that limiting the scope to DVT would exclude the potentially fatal complication of PE and that a more expansive description of, and approach to, the project were important to the development of the products that would be forthcoming. At the same time, the Committee recognized that the terms *DVT* or *blood clots* generally are used to raise patient and consumer awareness of the problem and that removing the term DVT would detract from those advances. The Committee further noted that:

- the purpose statement should be concise and specific, yet comprehensive enough to enable all stakeholders to understand the project and its purpose;
- the term VTE, which encompasses DVT and PE, is more appropriate than DVT; and
- a large and concerted effort will be needed to educate healthcare stakeholders regarding the appropriate assessment, prevention, diagnosis, and treatment of DVT/PE.

The Committee concluded that VTE, encompassing both DVT and PE, should be used to convey the full problem to be addressed and recommended the following purpose statement: The purpose of the prevention and care measures, practices, and policies set for deep vein thrombosis (DVT) and pulmonary embolism (PE), which together comprise venous thromboembolism (VTE), is to inform all healthcare stakeholders about the quality of VTE prevention and treatment activities across the continuum of healthcare and to identify opportunities to improve these activities in order to reduce death, disability, suffering, and the economic burden from VTE, including complications.

In addition to expanding the project to include both DVT and PE, the Steering Committee engaged in a broad and far-reaching discussion on themes that provided focus to the project scope. Two of the areas – future research and implementation – received less emphasis in this report, but the Committee noted that more emphasis will be placed on future research and implementation during the next phase of the project. The themes that guided the Committee's deliberations were as follows:

- Consumer/patient education. Rates of consumer awareness of DVT should be increased.
- Evidence-based medicine. The project should focus on evidence-based processes that will improve the implementation of proven prophylaxis, including non-pharmacological methods.
- Research. Future research should address the lack of clarity surrounding the prevention, diagnosis, and treatment of VTE (e.g., type of patient who should receive prophylaxis, appropriate dosage of appropriate medications, and appropriate length of administration).

- Risk assessment tools. There is a critical need to develop appropriate VTE risk assessment tools that can be incorporated into the general screening process. While adequate data exist to determine absolute risk, there is insufficient evidence to support the use of a specific risk assessment tool. Additionally, there is no validated tool at this time for ranking risk factors in patients who have multiple risks.
- Care settings. Measures, practices, and policies should address multiple care settings. Both inpatient and outpatient settings must be addressed, because of the high incidence of DVT after hospital discharge.
- Policies and practices. Given the dearth of current performance measures in this area, emphasis should be placed on evaluating and endorsing policies and practices.
- Implementation. Although a potential disconnect exists between measure sets and future implementation, the focus should remain on measure development/ identification within a framework of policies and practices.

To help ensure that the TAP's and the Steering Committee's consideration of practices and performance measures would address the full spectrum of approaches to prevention and care across the domains, a Steering Committee co-chair constructed a tool entitled "Clinical Logic for Venous Thromboembolism," which the TAP found useful in its discussion of the domains of care (table 1, at the end of this commentary).

Priority Areas

At the outset of the project, the Steering Committee recognized that a broad array of potential policies, practices, and measures that fall under the umbrella of the prevention and care of VTE could be available for analysis. Accordingly, the Committee set priorities to ensure that the areas of special importance for improving the prevention and care of VTE could be recommended without causing an undue data collection burden. Informed by prior NQF work in this regard, the Steering Committee set seven priorities (see the list in the report section entitled Priority Areas for VTE Prevention and Care Policy, Practices, and Performance Measures) and determined that the candidate policies, practices, or measures that did not reflect these priorities but that fell within the scope of the project could be eliminated or returned to the developers for refinement.

Criteria for Selection

To evaluate practices, the Steering Committee drew upon NQF's consensus report *Safe Practices for Better Healthcare* for the threshold criterion of specificity and the additional criteria of benefit, evidence of effectiveness, generalizability, and readiness to evaluate practices. With respect to performance measures, the TAP and the Steering Committee used the NQF-endorsed criteria from *A Comprehensive Framework for Hospital Performance Evaluation* – that is, that the measures should be important, scientifically acceptable, useable, and feasible.

Identifying the Set

In January 2005, NQF and JCAHO issued a joint "Call" for model organizational policies, preferred practices, and performance measures that was sent to the more than 260 NQF member organizations (at that time) and the public. Specifically, the "Call" sought model organization policies and practices for the prevention and care of DVT. Regarding candidate practices, the "Call" specified that the practices must 1) demonstrate strong evidence of their effectiveness in reducing the likelihood of developing DVT or PE; 2) be generalizable across multiple care settings and/or for multiple types of patients; and 3) be in the public domain. The "Call" also sought candidate structure, process, or outcome performance measures for risk assessment, prevention, and treatment of DVT, with the requirement that they be fully developed for use (i.e., with research and testing complete) and open source.

In addition to the "Call," a literature review was conducted, and NQF and JCAHO engaged in targeted outreach through solicitation to individuals, organizations, and governmental jurisdictions that had indicated that they had an interest in the general topic area or had asked to be advised of new projects. A second "Call for Measures" was conducted jointly in August 2005.

Model Organizational Policies

No model organizational policies were received in response to the January 2005 solicitation. However, the TAP and the Steering Committee believed strongly that, based on its prevalence and the number of hospital-related deaths related to the disease, an overarching statement of policy would signal to all healthcare facilities the need for explicit, documented guidance in the form of policy and practices around the four domains of VTE prevention and care.

Although no candidate policies were available for its review, the TAP recommended that a statement should be identified that would make clear the expectation that all organizations that treat patients at risk for VTE should have appropriate policy(ies) in place. TAP members viewed five points as key: 1) any proposed policy statement should provide guidance without being overly prescriptive; 2) each phase or domain of caring for VTE should be addressed separately; 3) how institutions execute risk assessment, prophylaxis, diagnosis, and treatment should not be specified; however, local, evidence-based policies should address each of these components of care; 4) statements of policy and practice should not be limited to inpatient hospital settings; and 5) ultimately, the adoption of performance measures linked to practice guidelines will drive practice and motivate providers to adhere to institutional policies.

The policy statement recommended by the TAP – that "every healthcare organization will have a written policy appropriate for its scope that addresses venous thromboembolism risk assessment, prophylaxis, diagnosis, and treatment" – was further refined by the Steering Committee to make explicit the expectation that an institution's policy should be written, should be evidence based, and should drive quality improvement.

During the review period, two organizations, each with a different rationale, asked that language mandating specific organization policies related to VTE be removed from the policy statement. One raised concerns about possible certification or marketing consequences that might result if surveyors do not find an organization policy. The second viewed the requirement as burdensome and as a waste of resources, voicing the concern that such a policy would require that changes be made as advances in knowledge occur, but that such changes presumably could be handled more easily in guidelines or in order sets. However, from its first meeting, the TAP felt strongly that institutional policy is needed; this was supported by the Steering Committee. Each concern, while considered seriously, was believed to have straightforward institutional solutions that would not increase burden unduly.

Key Characteristics of Preferred Practices

Nine healthcare organizations submitted procedures, guidelines, or practices. Not unexpectedly, all submissions were facility or system specific; none covered all domains of VTE prevention and care. Although none of the submitted procedures, guidelines, or practices was recommended specifically, each was essential in shaping the framework, policy statement, and key characteristics of preferred practices. That is, when considered together, they helped crystallize the statement of policy, including the four domains as well as the key characteristics of preferred practices. In fact, the recommendations developed in July 2005 by the TAP were changed little through this phase; only one item was dropped from consideration – a statement regarding the use of identification bracelets for outpatients on anticoagulation therapy, which was removed because TAP members did not agree on its value to the set.

In its deliberations related to preferred practices, the TAP recommended that 17 characteristics should be reflected in institutional practices for the prevention and care of VTE: 5 of these characteristics were in the general category; 2 were in the category of risk assessment/strategy; 2 were in the category of prophylaxis; 2 were in the category of diagnosis; and 6 were in the category of treatment and monitoring.

The Steering Committee further refined the characteristics and (as noted earlier) eliminated the item related to identification bracelets. In finalizing its recommendations, the Steering Committee focused on ensuring that the key characteristics were based on nationally accepted, evidence-based guidelines, that the need for provider education across all domains of care was emphasized, and that the statements clearly specified what local practice guidelines should address. More specifically, the Steering Committee's changes were designed to make clear that provider education in all domains is needed; to tease apart compound characteristics in order to assure clarity (as in the case of prophylaxis); and to spell out specific areas in which guideline-directed therapy should be used.

During the review period, comments regarding the addition of three characteristics

of practices were received. Although proposed standards for endorsement cannot be added after the review period, the Steering Committee believed that the fundamental intent of at least two of the recommendations already was included in the proposed set. A number of comments related to revising the key characteristics in order to omit the requirement for risk assessment/stratification. The TAP and the Steering Committee consistently have affirmed the need for risk assessment in order to avoid missing patients who should receive prophylaxis and provide appropriate prophylaxis; therefore, no change was made.

A comment regarding the treatment and monitoring characteristic recommendations suggested that the recommendation related to dedicated antithrombotic services is not needed as long as protocols are in place. The "safe practice" referenced has been updated and does not require a dedicated service, although it does include very specific requirements to assure appropriate care. A recommendation was made to remove the treatment and monitoring recommendations about guideline-directed therapy addressing indications for thrombolytic therapy and venous embolectomy (treatment and monitoring characteristic 5.e) on the basis that consensus does not exist. Although this recommendation indicates that guideline-directed therapy needs to be addressed, specific guidelines are not identified, and provision for institutional selection of evidence-based guidelines provides latitude. Additionally, the inclusion of "pulmonary artery embolectomy" in treatment and monitoring characteristic 5.c was made based on the recommendation of a Steering Committee member and approval by the Committee as a whole. Also, during the review period, a suggestion was made (and accepted) to remove the term *bridging* from the last treatment and monitoring characteristic recommendation in order to avoid confusion regarding its meaning. Separate from the comments, it was noted that typographical errors had occurred in the number and array of characteristics in one paragraph of this commentary. A correction was made to indicate a total of 17 key characteristics, which are properly arrayed and reflected in the report.

Performance Measures

The initial "Call for Measures" yielded 19 candidate performance measures: 8 for prevention, 4 for treatment, and 7 related to the occurrence of DVT during or following an episode of inpatient care; the initial review determined that few met the specified criteria, in particular as related to the level of detail of the specifications and whether the measure had been tested.

Because the measures submitted did not adequately address all the domains of care and the prevention of VTE-DVT/PE, the TAP, believing that measures were available that would address areas of particular importance, recommended a second "Call for Measures." The Steering Committee concurred, and a second "Call" in targeted areas was issued in an attempt to obtain a comprehensive set of measures. The areas targeted in the "Call" were as follows:

 risk assessment/stratification/secondary prevention, including measures for completed risk assessment and unnecessary screening at discharge;

- prophylaxis/primary prevention, including measures for stroke, heart failure, cancer, and patients over age 60 hospitalized in medical units; multiple trauma, joint replacements, and hip fracture in the surgical population; postoperative discontinuation of prophylaxis; postdischarge prophylaxis; mechanical prophylaxis; and inferior vena cava filters; and
- therapy measures for patients with acute VTE started on fast-acting anticoagulants and with therapeutic partial thromboplastin time within 24 hours of therapy initiation; monitoring of appropriate dose of unfractionated heparin; overlap—inpatient to outpatient; treatment or dosage determination based on appropriate testing; initiation of warfarin; and warfarin monitoring.

Although 19 additional measures were received, this did not result in a comprehensive set of fully developed and tested measures when evaluated against the criteria.

However, two process measures from the initial solicitation that focused on prophylaxis for surgical patients ultimately were recommended by the Steering Committee. The TAP recommended that the measures, submitted by the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) from its Surgical Care Improvement Project, be further developed by JCAHO along with de novo development of measures to address the other domains. The Steering Committee concluded, however, that sufficient testing had occurred to demonstrate their validity and reliability, in particular because CMS and JCAHO had agreed to minor modifications to the specifications. In making its recommendation, the Steering Committee noted that the two measures should work well with and complement measures that will be developed and tested by JCAHO in the next phase of this project.⁶

Two commenters suggested that the measure related to recommended prophylaxis ordering should be excluded on the basis that the intervention, not the order, is important. During the deliberations that resulted in advancing this measure, the TAP and the Steering Committee noted that the emphasis of the measure is "recommended" prophylaxis, reinforcing the idea that orders and treatment should be evidence based.

Research Recommendations

The statement of policy that sets out the four domains of prevention and care and the key characteristics of preferred practices, which were derived from clinical guidelines and the collective experiences of the TAP and the Steering Committee members, provides an umbrella under which all of the domains of care and prevention will be specified through performance measures. The research areas will be addressed more fully during the next phase of the project through the de novo development and testing that is being performed by JCAHO.

⁶Because the understanding of the state of the science at the initiation of this project suggested that a paucity of measures could occur, the project included a subcontract with JCAHO to develop detailed measure specifications for measures relevant to hospital settings and to conduct alpha and pilot testing of measures for which development was done.

Appeal

The statement of organizational policy, 17 key characteristics of preferred practices, and 2 performance measures of surgical prophylaxis for public reporting were endorsed by the NQF Board of Directors in May 2006. Subsequently, NQF received one letter of appeal from the American College of Chest Physicians (ACCP) Quality Improvement Committee appealing the endorsement of 6 of the 17 key characteristics of preferred practices as they related to risk assessment/ stratification.

In October 2006, the Board voted to deny the appeal based upon the following: ACCP's appeal asserted that while risk assessment is ideal, it is not clinically practical and will present barriers to implementation. The organization also noted there is not a standardized approach to risk stratification and recommended that the consensus standards should require physicians to deliver prophylaxis to all medical and surgical inpatients or document why none was given rather than expect risk assessment/stratification.

The Board acknowledged the ACCP concern and recognized that there is not a single universal standard for risk assessment; however, there are nationally accepted, evidence-based guidelines that can enable institutions to develop appropriate organizational policies related to the prevention and care of VTE, including risk assessment. The Board accepted the position of the Steering Committee that while most patients are candidates for prophylaxis, all who need it should receive the appropriate treatment. The Committee felt that without risk assessment, appropriate individualized prophylaxis could not be reliably determined and that providing prophylaxis absent a thoughtful evaluation of each patient's needs and the setting in which each patient would be receiving prophylaxis is not appropriate.

RISK GROUPS AND FACTORS (risk assessment)	PRIMARY PREVENTION	DIAGNOSIS	ACUTE THERAPY	SECONDARY PREVENTION (risk assessment)
Community Travel Inpatients Surgery Acute medical illness Long-term care facility Outpatients Common risk factors for incident event Patient age Body Mass Index	Risk factor modification Screening Thrombophilia Imaging Drug prophylaxis Agent Dose/schedule Start time Duration Adjuvant Monitoring	Pre-test probability D-dimer Imaging Deep vein thrombosis Duplex unltrasound Venogram Computerized axial tomography/ magnetic resonance imaging (CT/MRI) Pulmonary embolism (PE) Lung scan CT Pulmonary angiogram MRI For PE assessment of right heart function Hypotension If normotensive ?Echo ?BNP ?cardiac troponin	Anticoagulation Heparin Unfractionated heparin vs. low molecular weight heparin (LMWH) vs. fondaparinux Start Dose/schedule In- vs. outpatient Monitoring Duration/overlap Warfarin Start Loading dose Monitoring Thrombolysis Catheter-directed thrombolysis Mechanical thrombectomy Complications Bleeding HIT(T) Therapeutic failure	VTE recurrence Risk assessment Type of prophylaxis LMWH vs. warfarin Duration Intensity Monitoring Venous stasis syndrome Risk assessment Compression therapy Chronic
Active cancer Extremity paresis Trauma/fracture Central venous catheter/transvenous pacemaker Superficial vein thrombosis Oral contraceptives Hormone therapy Pregnancy/postpartum Other*	Mechanical prophylaxis Start time Duration Foot vs. calf vs. leg Complications of prophylaxis Bleeding Heparin-induced thrombocytopenia (thrombosis) (HIT(T)) Prophylaxis failure			thromboembolic pulmonary hypertension Complications of 2° Prevention Bleeding Osteoporosis 2° prevention failure Diagnosis of recurrence Modification of 2° prevention
Education Increased patient satisfaction Increased community awareness Increased use of guidelines by physicians				
Venous thromboembolism (VTE) epidemiology Decreased incidence Decreased recurrence Improved survival Decreased complications				

Table 1 – CLINICAL LOGIC FOR VENOUS THROMBOEMBOLISM

*See the introduction to this report.

NATIONAL QUALITY FORUM

Appendix C Steering Committee, Technical Advisory Panel, and Project Staff

Steering Committee

T. Bruce Ferguson, Jr., MD, Co-Chair East Carolina Heart Institute Greenville, NC

John A. Heit, MD, Co-Chair Mayo Clinic Rochester, MN

John R. Bartholemew, MD Cleveland Clinic Foundation Cleveland, OH

Michael Becker, RN, MSN CareScience Philadelphia, PA

Melanie Bloom The Coalition to Prevent DVT Washington, DC

Ralph G. DePalma, MD Department of Veterans Affairs Washington, DC

Nancy L. Fisher, MD, MPH, RN Washington State Health Care Authority Olympia, WA

Mary E. Foscue, MD Sacred Heart Health System Hospital Ascension Health Pensacola, FL

Samuel Z. Goldhaber, MD Brigham and Women's Hospital Boston, MA Virginia A. Hemelt, MD American Academy of Family Physicians Leawood, KS

David W. Hunter, MD University of Minnesota Hospital and Clinic Minneapolis, MN

Belinda Ireland, MD, MS BJC Healthcare St. Louis, MO

Jay R. Lieberman, MD University of California, Los Angeles Medical Center Los Angeles, CA

Edith Nutescu, PharmD College of Pharmacy, University of Illinois at Chicago Chicago, IL

Arthur L. Pelberg, MD, MPA Schaller Anderson, Inc. Phoenix, AZ

Mary Lou Sole, PhD, RN University of Central Florida School of Nursing Orlando, FL

Richard M. Weinberg, MD University Hospital Newark, NJ Richard H. White, MD University of California, Davis Medical Center Sacramento, CA

David C. Zanick, MD, MPH Northwest Airlines Minneapolis, MN

Technical Advisory Panel

Dale Bratzler, DO, MPH (Co-Chair) Oklahoma Foundation for Medical Quality Oklahoma City, OK

Joseph A. Caprini, MD, MS, RVT (Co-Chair) Evanston Northwestern Healthcare Evanston, IL

Anne Bass, MD Weill Medical College of Cornell University, Hospital for Special Surgery New York, NY

Stephen V. Cantrill, MD Denver Health Medical Center Denver, CO

Vanessa K. Dalton, MD, MPH University of Michigan Hospitals Ann Arbor, MI

William H. Geerts, MD Sunnybrook and Women's College Health Sciences Centre Toronto, Ontario, Canada

James Boyd Groce, III, PharmD Moses H. Cone Memorial Hospital Greensboro, NC

Kathryn Hassell, MD University of Colorado Health Sciences Center Denver, CO

Scott Kaatz, DO Henry Ford Hospital Detroit, MI

Nicos Labropoulos, PhD, DIC, RVT Loyola University Medical Center Maywood, IL

Franklin A. Michota, Jr., MD Cleveland Clinic Foundation Cleveland, OH

Ruth Morrison, RN, BSN, CVN Brigham & Women's Hospital Boston, MA Robert Jeffery Panzer, MD University of Rochester Rochester, NY

Vincent Pellegrini, Jr., MD University of Maryland School of Medicine Baltimore, MD

Jodi Beth Segal, MD, MPH Johns Hopkins University School of Medicine Baltimore, MD

Victor F. Tapson, MD Duke University Medical Center Durham, NC

Alexander G.G. Turpie, MB McMaster University Hamilton, Ontario, Canada

Suresh Vedanthan, MD Mallinckrodt Institute of Radiology, Washington University School of Medicine St. Louis, MO

Project Staff

Janet M. Corrigan, PhD, MBA¹ President and Chief Executive Officer

Kenneth W. Kizer, MD, MPH² President and Chief Executive Officer

Robyn Y. Nishimi, PhD Chief Operating Officer

Melinda L. Murphy, RN, MS, CNA Senior Vice President

Lawrence D. Gorban, MA Vice President, Operations

Kate C. Blenner Research Assistant

Tammy P. McBride, RN, BSN Senior Program Director

Angela Miele, MPA Program Director

Bakeyah S. Nelson, MA Research Analyst

¹ Since February 2006
 ² Through November 2005

NATIONAL QUALITY FORUM

Appendix D Members and Board of Directors

Members*

CONSUMER COUNCIL

AARP AFL-CIO AFT Healthcare American Hospice Foundation Childbirth Connection Consumers Advancing Patient Safety Consumers' Checkbook Consumer Coalition for Quality Health Care International Association of Machinists March of Dimes National Breast Cancer Coalition National Citizens' Coalition for Nursing Home Reform National Coalition for Cancer Survivorship National Family Caregivers Association National Partnership for Women and Families Service Employees International Union State of California - Office of the Patient Advocate

HEALTH PROFESSIONAL, PROVIDER, AND HEALTH PLAN COUNCIL

Administrators for the Professions Adventist HealthCare Advocate Health Partners Aetna Alegent Health Alexian Brothers Medical Center Alliance for Quality Nursing Home Care American Academy of Family Physicians American Academy of Ophthalmology American Academy of Orthopaedic Surgeons American Academy of Pediatrics American Association of Nurse Anesthetists American Clinical Laboratory Association American College of Cardiology American College of Chest Physicians American College of Emergency Physicians American College of Gastroenterology American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists American College of Physicians American College of Radiology American College of Rheumatology American College of Surgeons American Geriatrics Society American Heart Association American Hospital Association American Managed Behavioral Healthcare Association American Medical Association American Medical Group Association American Nurses Association American Optometric Association American Osteopathic Association American Society for Gastrointestinal Endoscopy American Society for Therapeutic Radiology and Oncology American Society of Anesthesiologists American Society of Clinical Oncology American Society of Health-System Pharmacists

*When voting under the NQF Consensus Development Process occurred for this report.

American Society of Interventional Pain Physicians American Society of Plastic Surgeons America's Health Insurance Plans Ascension Health Association of Professors of Medicine Atlantic Health System Aurora Health Care Baptist Memorial Health Care Bayhealth Medical Center Baylor Health Care System **Beverly Enterprises BJC HealthCare** Blue Cross and Blue Shield Association Bon Secours Health System Bronson Healthcare Group Calgary Health Region - Quality Improvement and Health Information Catholic Health Association of the United States Catholic Health Initiatives Catholic Healthcare Partners Cedars-Sinai Medical Center Centura Health Chesapeake Bay ENT Child Health Corporation of America Children's Hospitals and Clinics of Minnesota CHRISTUS Health CIGNA Healthcare Clark Consulting College of American Pathologists Connecticut Hospital Association Council of Medical Specialty Societies **Detroit Medical Center** Empire BlueCross/BlueShield Evanston Northwestern Healthcare Exempla Healthcare Exeter Health Resources Federation of American Hospitals First Health Florida Hospital Medical Center Gentiva Health Services Good Samaritan Hospital Greater New York Hospital Association Hackensack University Medical Center HCA HealthHelp Healthcare Leadership Council Health Management Associates HealthPartners The Heart Center of Indiana Henry Ford Health System Hoag Hospital Horizon Blue Cross and Blue Shield of New Jersey Hospital for Special Surgery HRDI

Hudson Health Plan Illinois Hospital Association INTEGRIS Health Intermountain Healthcare John Muir/Mt. Diablo Health System Johns Hopkins Health System Kaiser Permanente KU Med at the University of Kansas Medical Center Lake Forest Hospital Los Angeles County - Department of Health Services Lutheran Medical Center Mayo Foundation Medical University of South Carolina MedQuest Associates MedSphere MedStar Health Memorial Health University Medical Center Memorial Hermann Healthcare System Memorial Sloan-Kettering Cancer Center Mercy Medical Center Meridian Health System The Methodist Hospital Milliman Care Guidelines Munson Medical Center National Association for Home Care & Hospice National Association of Chain Drug Stores National Association of Children's Hospitals and **Related Institutions** National Association of Public Hospitals and Health Systems National Consensus Project for Quality Palliative Care National Consortium of Breast Centers National Hospice and Palliative Care Organization National Rural Health Association Nebraska Heart Hospitals Nemours Foundation New York Presbyterian Hospital and Health System Northwestern Memorial Corporation North Carolina Baptist Hospital North Mississippi Medical Center North Shore-Long Island Jewish Health System North Texas Specialty Physicians Norton Healthcare Novant Health Oakwood Healthcare System PacifiCare PacifiCare Behavioral Health Palmetto Health Alliance Park Nicollet Health Services Partners HealthCare Premier Presbyterian Healthcare Services Providence Health System

Robert Wood Johnson Health Network Robert Wood Johnson University Hospital-Hamilton Robert Wood Johnson University Hospital-New Brunswick Sentara Norfolk General Hospital Sisters of Charity of Leavenworth Health System Sisters of Mercy Health System Society of Critical Care Medicine Society of Thoracic Surgeons Sodexho Healthcare Services St. Mary's Hospital Medical Center Stamford Health System State Associations of Addiction Services State University of New York-College of Optometry Sutter Health Tampa General Hospital Tenet Healthcare Thomas Jefferson University Hospital **Triad Hospitals** Trinity Health UAB Health Systems UnitedHealth Group University Health Systems of Eastern Carolina University Hospitals of Cleveland University of California-Davis Medical Group University of Michigan Hospitals and Health Centers University of Pennsylvania Health System University of Texas-MD Anderson Cancer Center US Department of Defense-Health Affairs UW Health Vail Valley Medical Center Value Options Vanguard Health Management Veterans Health Administration VHA, Inc. Virtua Health Waukesha Elmbrook Health Care WellPoint Yale-New Haven Health System

PURCHASER COUNCIL

BoozAllenHamilton Buyers Health Care Action Group Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services Central Florida Health Care Coalition District of Columbia Department of Health Employers' Coalition on Health Employer Health Care Alliance Cooperative (The Alliance) General Motors Greater Detroit Area Health Council HealthCare 21 HR Policy Association Leapfrog Group Lehigh Valley Business Conference on Health Maine Health Management Coalition Michigan Purchasers Health Alliance National Association of Health Data Organizations National Association of State Medicaid Directors National Business Coalition on Health National Business Group on Health New Jersey Health Care Quality Institute Pacific Business Group on Health Schaller Anderson St. Louis Business Health Coalition US Office of Personnel Management Washington State Health Care Authority

RESEARCH AND QUALITY IMPROVEMENT COUNCIL

AAAHC-Institute for Quality Improvement Abbott Laboratories Abiomed ACC/AHA Task Force on Performance Measures ACS/MIDAS+ Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality AI Insight American Academy of Nursing American Association of Colleges of Nursing American Board of Internal Medicine Foundation American Board of Medical Specialties American College of Medical Quality American Health Quality Association American Pharmacists Association Foundation American Psychiatric Institute for Research and Education American Society for Quality-Health Care Division Anesthesia Patient Safety Foundation Association for Professionals in Infection Control and Epidemiology Association of American Medical Colleges Astra Zeneca AYR Consulting Group Battelle Memorial Institute Bristol Myers Squibb California HealthCare Foundation Cancer Quality Council of Ontario Cardinal Health CareScience Center to Advance Palliative Care Centers for Disease Control and Prevention Cerner Corporation City of New York Department of Health and Hygiene Cleveland Clinic Foundation Community Health Accreditation Program Coral Initiative CRG Medical C.R. Bard

Delaware Valley Society for Thoracic Surgeons Quality Improvement Initiative Delmarva Foundation **Dialog Medical** eHealth Initiative Eli Lilly and Company Florida Initiative for Children's Healthcare Quality Forum of End Stage Renal Disease Networks GlaxoSmithKline Health Alliance of Mid-America Health Care Compliance Strategies Health Care Excel Health Grades Health Information Management Systems Society Health Resources and Services Administration Health Services Advisory Group Illinois Department of Public Health Infectious Diseases Society of America Institute for Clinical Systems Improvement Institute for Safe Medication Practices Integrated Healthcare Association Integrated Resources for the Middlesex Area Iowa Foundation for Medical Care **IPRO** Jefferson Health System Office of Health Policy and Clinical Outcomes Johnson & Johnson Health System Joint Commission on Accreditation of Healthcare Organizations Long Term Care Institute Loyola University Health System Center for Clinical Effectiveness Lumetra Maine Quality Forum McKesson Corporation MedAssets Medical Review of North Carolina MedMined Medstat Minnesota Community Measurement National Academy for State Health Policy National Association for Healthcare Quality National Committee for Quality Assurance National Institutes of Health National Patient Safety Foundation National Research Corporation New York University College of Nursing/John A. Hartford Institute Northeast Health Care Quality Foundation North Carolina Center for Hospital Quality and Patient Safety Ohio KePRO OmniCare Online Users for Computer-assisted Healthcare

Owens & Minor and Hospira Partnership for Prevention Pennsylvania Health Care Cost Containment Council Pennsylvania Patient Safety Authority Pfizer PhRMA Physician Consortium for Performance Improvement Press, Ganey Associates Professional Research Consultants ProHealth Care Renal Physicians Association Research!America Roswell Park Cancer Institute sanofi-aventis Select Quality Care Society for Healthcare Epidemiology of America Solucient State of New Jersey Department of Health and Senior Services Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration Texas Medical Institute of Technology Uniform Data System for Medical Rehabilitation United Hospital Fund University of North Carolina-Program on Health Outcomes URAC US Pharmacopeia Virginia Cardiac Surgery Quality Initiative Vitas Healthcare Corporation West Virginia Medical Institute Wisconsin Collaborative for Healthcare Quality

Board of Directors

Gail L. Warden (Chair, Chair Emeritus)¹ President Emeritus Henry Ford Health System Detroit, MI William L. Roper, MD, MPH (Chair-Elect, Chair)² Chief Executive Officer University of North Carolina Health Care System Chapel Hill, NC John C. Rother, JD (Vice-Chair) Director of Policy and Strategy AARP Washington, DC John O. Agwunobi, MD, MBA³ Secretary Florida Department of Health Tallahassee, FL

Joel Allison⁴ President and Chief Executive Officer Baylor Health Care System Dallas, TX

Harris A. Berman, MD⁵ Dean Public Health and Professional Degree Programs Tufts University School of Medicine Boston, MA

Dan G. Blair⁶ Acting Director Office of Personnel Management Washington, DC

Bruce E. Bradley Director, Managed Care Plans General Motors Corporation Detroit, MI

Carolyn M. Clancy, MD Director Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality Rockville, MD

Janet M. Corrigan, PhD, MBA⁷ President and Chief Executive Officer National Quality Forum Washington, DC

Nancy-Ann Min DeParle, Esq. Senior Advisor JPMorgan Partners Washington, DC

David R. Gifford, MD, MPH⁸ Director of Health Rhode Island Department of Health Providence, RI

William E. Golden, MD⁹ Immediate Past President American Health Quality Association Washington, DC

Lisa I. Iezzoni, MD¹⁰ Professor of Medicine Harvard Medical School Boston, MA

Kay Coles James¹¹ Director Office of Personnel Management Washington, DC

Jeffrey Kang, MD, MPH¹² Chief Medical Officer CIGNA Hartford, CT Kenneth W. Kizer, MD, MPH¹³ President and Chief Executive Officer National Quality Forum Washington, DC

Michael J. Kussman, MD, MS, Brig. Gen. (US Army Ret.)¹⁴ Acting Under Secretary for Health Veterans Health Administration Washington, DC

Norma M. Lang, PhD, RN

Wisconsin Regent Distinguished Professor and Aurora Professor of Healthcare Quality and Informatics University of Wisconsin-Milwaukee Milwaukee, WI

Peter V. Lee, JD¹⁵ Chief Executive Officer Pacific Business Group on Health San Francisco, CA

Brian W. Lindberg Executive Director Consumer Coalition for Quality Health Care Washington, DC

Mark B. McClellan, MD, PhD¹⁶ Administrator Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services Washington, DC

Bruce McWhinney, PharmD¹⁷ Senior Vice President, Corporate Clinical Affairs Cardinal Health Dublin, OH

Debra L. Ness Executive Vice President National Partnership for Women and Families Washington, DC

Leslie V. Norwalk, Esq.¹⁸ Acting Administrator Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services Washington, DC

Janet Olszewski¹⁹ Director Michigan Department of Community Health Lansing, MI

Paul H. O'Neill Pittsburgh, PA

Jonathan B. Perlin, MD, PhD, MSHA²⁰ Under Secretary for Health Veterans Health Administration Department of Veterans Affairs Washington, DC **Christopher J. Queram**²¹ Chief Executive Officer Employer Health Care Alliance Cooperative Madison, WI

Jeffrey B. Rich, MD²² Chair Virginia Cardiac Surgery Quality Initiative Norfolk, VA

Gerald M. Shea Assistant to the President for Government Affairs AFL-CIO Washington, DC

Janet Sullivan, MD Chief Medical Officer Hudson Health Plan Tarrytown, NY

James W. Varnum President Dartmouth-Hitchcock Alliance Lebanon, NH

Andrew Webber²³ President and Chief Executive Officer National Business Coalition on Health Washington, DC

Marina L. Weiss, PhD Senior Vice President for Public Policy and Government Affairs March of Dimes Washington, DC

Dale Whitney²⁴ Corporate Health Care Director UPS Atlanta, GA

Liaison Members

Clyde J. Behney²⁵ Deputy Executive Officer Institute of Medicine Washington, DC

David J. Brailer, MD, PhD²⁶ National Coordinator for Health Information Technology Department of Health and Human Services Washington, DC

Nancy H. Nielsen, MD, PhD Speaker, House of Delegates AMA for Physician Consortium for Performance Improvement Chicago, IL

Margaret E. O'Kane

President National Committee for Quality Assurance Washington, DC

Dennis S. O'Leary, MD

President Joint Commission on Accreditation of Healthcare Organizations

Oakbrook Terrace, IL

Curt Selquist²⁷

Company Group Chairman and Worldwide Franchise Chairman Johnson & Johnson Piscataway, NJ

Elias A. Zerhouni, MD

Director National Institutes of Health Bethesda, MD

- ¹ Chair through December 2005; Chair Emeritus since January 2006
- ² Appointed to the Board of Directors and named Chair-Elect in May 2005; became Chair in January 2006
- ³ Through September 2005
- ⁴ Since March 2006
- ⁵ Through December 2005
- ⁶ February 2005 through August 2005
- ⁷ NQF President and CEO since February 2006; also was Liaison Member representing the Institute of Medicine through May 2005
- 8 Since March 2006
- 9 Through December 2004
- ¹⁰ Through February 2005
- ¹¹ Through January 2005
- 12 Since February 2006
- ¹³ NQF President and CEO through November 2005
- ¹⁴Since August 2006
- ¹⁵ Since February 2006
- ¹⁶ Through October 2006
- 17 Since March 2006
- ¹⁸ Through October 2006
- ¹⁹Since January 2005
- $^{\rm 20}\mbox{October}$ 2005 to August 2006
- ²¹ Through October 2005
- ²² Since January 2005
- ²³ Since October 2005
- ²⁴ Through December 2005
- ²⁵ Since August 2005
- ²⁶ October 2005 to June 2006
- ²⁷ Since April 2006

NATIONAL QUALITY FORUM

Appendix E Consensus Development Process: Summary

The National Quality Forum (NQF), a voluntary consensus standardssetting organization, brings together diverse healthcare stakeholders to endorse performance measures and other standards to improve healthcare quality. Because of its broad stakeholder representation and formal Consensus Development Process (CDP), NQF-endorsed[™] products have special legal standing as voluntary consensus standards. The primary participants in the NQF CDP are NQF member organizations, which include:

- consumer and patient groups;
- healthcare purchasers;
- healthcare providers, professionals, and health plans; and
- research and quality improvement organizations.

Any organization interested in healthcare quality measurement and improvement may apply to be a member of NQF. Membership information is available on the NQF web site, www.qualityforum.org.

Members of the public with particular expertise in a given topic also may be invited to participate in the early identification of draft consensus standards, either as technical advisors or as Steering Committee members. In addition, the NQF process explicitly recognizes a role for the general public to comment on proposed consensus standards and to appeal healthcare quality consensus standards endorsed by NQF. Information on NQF projects, including information on NQF meetings open to the public, is posted at www.qualityforum.org.

Each project NQF undertakes is guided by a Steering Committee (or Review Committee) composed of individuals from each of the four critical stakeholder perspectives. With the assistance of NQF staff and technical advisory panels and with the ongoing input of NQF Members, a Steering Committee conducts an overall assessment of the state of the field in the particular topic area and recommends a set of draft measures, indicators, or practices for review, along with the rationale for proposing them. The proposed consensus standards are distributed for review and comment by NQF Members and non-members.

Following the comment period, a revised product is distributed to NQF Members for voting. The vote need not be unanimous, either within or across all Member Councils, for consensus to be achieved. If a majority of Members within each Council do not vote approval, staff attempts to reconcile differences among Members to maximize agreement, and a second round of voting is conducted. Proposed consensus standards that have undergone this process and that have been approved by all four Member Councils on the first ballot or by at least two Member Councils after the second round of voting are forwarded to the Board of Directors for consideration. All products must be endorsed by a vote of the NQF Board of Directors.

Affected parties may appeal voluntary consensus standards endorsed by the NQF Board of Directors. Once a set of voluntary consensus standards has been approved, the federal government may utilize it for standardization purposes in accordance with the provisions of the National Technology Transfer and Advancement Act of 1995 (P.L. 104-113) and the Office of Management and Budget Circular A-119. Consensus standards are updated as warranted.

For this report, the NQF CDP, version 1.7, was in effect. The complete process can be found at www.qualityforum.org.

NATIONAL QUALITY FORUM PUBLICATION INFORMATION

National Voluntary Consensus Standards for Prevention and Care of Venous Thromboembolism: Policy, Preferred Practices, and Initial Performance Measures – A Consensus Report

Document No.	Description	Member Price*#	Non-member Price [#]
NQFCR-15-06	Paperback, 56 pages	\$27.29 each, incl. shipping & handling (additional 10% discount on bulk orders of 10 or more copies shipped to one address)	\$32.75 each, incl. shipping & handling (10% discount on bulk orders of 10 or more copies shipped to one address)

*Primary contacts for NQF member organizations will receive two complimentary copies.

*Orders directed to organizations or individuals in Washington, DC, must add 5.75% sales tax or provide a copy of your tax-exempt certificate with your order. For deliveries outside the United States, please contact us (202.783.1300 or fax below) for pricing information.

No. of copies Cost of reports	Sales tax (5.75% DC) Total cost
METHOD OF DELIVERY	METHOD OF PAYMENT
U.S. Postal Service (included)	□ Payment enclosed (check or money order, U.S. dollars only)
FedEx (Priority / Standard / 2-day / 3-day) [circle one (FedEx used ONLY if a valid FedEx Acct. No. is provided	e] Please invoice me (option ONLY for NQF Members) d)
Your FedEx Acct. No	_
Credit Card: 🗌 Visa 🔲 Mastercard 🗌 Amex	
Card #	VCODE Expiration Date
Billing Address (for this credit card)	FOUND UN JORNAI URE FLAIE UN ADUVE AMEA CLE
Total Amount \$ Signature	
INVOICE AND PUBLICATIONS TO BE SENT TO	
Name	
Organization	
Address	
City State ZIP	
Phone	
Fax and E-mail	
DIRECT ORDERS TO National Quality Forum ATTN: Publications Unit 601 Thirteenth Street, NW, Suite 50	00 North, Washington, DC 20005
FAX Publications Unit – 202.783.3400	

THE NATIONAL QUALITY FORUM (NQF) is a private, nonprofit, open membership, public benefit corporation whose mission is to improve the American healthcare system so that it can be counted on to provide safe, timely, compassionate, and accountable care using the best current knowledge. Established in 1999, NQF is a unique public-private partnership having broad participation from all parts of the healthcare industry. As a voluntary consensus standards setting organization, NQF seeks to develop a common vision for healthcare quality improvement, create a foundation for standardized healthcare performance data collection and reporting, and identify a national strategy for healthcare quality improvement. NQF provides an equitable mechanism for addressing the disparate priorities of healthcare's many stakeholders.

National Quality Forum 601 Thirteenth Street, NW, Suite 500 North Washington, DC 20005

